IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 14 1998

ORIGINAL

WILLIE JAMES BROWN,

Petitioner,

Shief Daputy Clerk

vs.

CASE NO. 93,942

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

MARCY K. ALLEN
Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for Willie James Brown
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street, 6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600
Florida Bar No. 332161

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court. He will be referred to as Petitioner in this brief.

The record on appeal is consecutively numbered. All references to the record will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. The transcript is numbered independently of the record on appeal. All references to the transcripts will be by the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis.

All emphasis has been added by Petitioner unless otherwise noted.

In accordance with the Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order, issued on July 13, 1998, and modeled after Rule 28-2(d), Rules of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, counsel petitioner hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that is not spaced proportionately.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged by information filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit with resisting an officer without violence, possession of less than 20 grams of cannabis and possession of cocaine (R-2). Petitioner pro se filed a written motion to suppress which was adopted by trial counsel (R-12-13, T-2). After a pretrial evidentiary hearing, the motion was denied (T-8-52).

Petitioner proceeded to jury trial (R-28). At the close of the state's case, Petitioner renewed his motion to suppress and moved for judgment of acquittal. Both were denied by the circuit court (T-129-132).

The jury returned a verdict finding Petitioner guilty of each count as charged in the information (R-32, T-185-186). Petitioner was adjudicated guilty accordingly (R-50-51, T-199). As to counts I and II, Petitioner was sentenced to serve 9 months in the county jail (R-52-53,54-55). As to count III, Petitioner was sentenced to serve 1 year and one day in prison (R-56-58). Said sentences were concurrent with one another (T-199, R-53,55).

Petitioner pro se filed a notice of appeal upon conviction but prior to sentencing (R-45). On November 20, 1996, upon counsel's motion, the Fourth District Court of Appeal abated the proceedings pending sentencing.

On August 5, 1998, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed appellant's convictions and sentence. In a written decision, the appellate court concluded that Petitioner's right to

be free from unreasonable search and seizure was not violated where a police officer directed appellant to remove his hands from his pockets at a time when the officer did not have a founded suspicion to believe appellant was engaged in criminal activity. Brown v. State, 714 So. 2d 1191 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

On September 3, 1998, Petitioner served his notice of invocation of discretionary jurisdiction in this Court. After receiving jurisdictional briefs, on November 16, 1998, this Court issued an order accepting jurisdiction. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the evidentiary hearing on Petitioner's motion to suppress, the prosecution presented the testimony of Fort Pierce police officer Hall and Petitioner testified in his defense.

Hall stated that he was on routine patrol accompanied by a female civilian observer when he saw Petitioner approach a vehicle stopped at a traffic signal (T-9-10,24). According to Hall, Petitioner banged on the window of the stopped vehicle and yelled something (T-10). The vehicle sped away (T-10).

Hall drove toward Petitioner (T-10). Petitioner was very excited and approached the patrol car (T-10). Petitioner told Hall that he was trying to get his ride (T-18). Petitioner was not hostile toward Hall and Hall did not observe anything to indicate that Petitioner had a weapon on his person (T-31).

After moving Petitioner away from the door, Hall left his vehicle (T-10-11). Hall knew Petitioner, knew his name and knew that he had been previously arrested for battery on a police officer (T-12). One year earlier, Hall saw Petitioner at the police station (T-20). A couple of weeks after that meeting, Hall questioned Petitioner about drug sales (T-20-21). Hall testified that he questioned Petitioner several times and has searched Petitioner before although he did not feel threatened (T-21,28). Nonetheless, Hall asked Petitioner for his name (T-11). Petitioner replied "Willie James Nilly." (T-13).

Hall observed Petitioner's hands in his pockets (T-13,30).

Hall asked Petitioner to remove his hands from his pockets (T-13). Petitioner complied (T-13). Hall did not see any objects in Petitioner's hands or notice any bulges in his pockets (T-24).

Petitioner turned away from Hall bending slightly at the waist and placed his hands underneath the front waistband of his pants (T-13,23). Hall testified that he was afraid that Petitioner "might be going for some type of weapon." (T-13). Hall testified that when he is off duty he has carried "plenty of guns down in his pants" and it does not show (T-32).

Hall reached around Petitioner and grabbed Petitioner's hands (T-13). Hall felt something hard in Petitioner's pants which he subsequently determined was a beeper (T-15,26).

Hall yelled at Petitioner to remove his hands from his pants (T-15). They tumbled to the ground (T-15). Eventually Petitioner placed his hands behind his head (T-15-16).

After a while, back up arrived (T-16). Petitioner was arrested for resisting an officer (T-16). A search of Petitioner's person yielded a baggie of marijuana from his hip pocket. Cocaine rocks were shaken from the crotch area of his pants (T-16).

Petitioner testified that as he was walking home, Hall pulled up to him (T-33-34). Hall asked Petitioner what he was doing (T-34). Petitioner said he was going home (T-34). Petitioner turned around and continued walking (T-34). Hall pushed Petitioner toward the car (T-34). Petitioner leaned against the car and stated that he had not done anything (T-34). Hall pushed Petitioner and

Petitioner went to the ground (T-34). Hall placed Petitioner hands on his head (T-35). Petitioner lay on the wet ground while Hall called for backup (T-35). Hall pounded Petitioner's back as they waited a long time for the other officers to arrive (T-35).

Petitioner was handcuffed and placed in the car (T-35). Another officer searched Petitioner (T-36). Petitioner did not have marijuana or cocaine rocks on his person (T-36). Petitioner asked the officers to pick up his beeper from the ground (T-36).

The prosecutor limited his cross-examination to Petitioner's prior record (T-37). Petitioner agreed that he had been convicted of at least 3 felonies and probably had 5 felony convictions (T-37-38).

At Petitioner's jury trial, Hall reiterated his testimony as presented at the suppression hearing (R-73-84). He added that it was approximately 1:00 a.m. (T-73). He claimed it was his legal duty to find out why Petitioner was yelling at the car (T-75-76). He added that Petitioner smelled of alcohol (T-76).

Hall testified that he yelled at Petitioner to put his hands in plain view several times before Hall grabbed Petitioner (T-79-80). On cross-examination, Hall stated that Petitioner resisted by placing his hands in his pants and refusing to take them out (T-106).

Hall acknowledged that at the suppression hearing he testified that he felt a hard object in the crotch area of Petitioner's pants while at a preliminary hearing he testified that he felt a hard

object in the waistband of Petitioner's pants (T-108-109).

At trial, the civilian passenger, Rebecca Strickland, testified when she saw Petitioner standing on the street after the car left "[h]e was acting like he was, you know, not doing anything wrong or whatever." (T-112). Petitioner went over to the police car after it stopped next to him (T-119). Petitioner did not run toward the patrol car (T-119).

Hall left the patrol car while Ms. Strickland remained inside (T-112). Hall took Petitioner to the back of the vehicle (T-113). Petitioner was apprehensive about things (T-113). Ms. Strickland thought Hall was trying to get Petitioner to put his hands on the car and Petitioner would not comply (T-113). A tussle ensued. Ms. Strickland got out of the patrol car until back up arrived (T-114). She saw the officer placing marijuana and cocaine on the trunk (T-114-115).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I: Petitioner's motion to suppress cocaine and marijuana was wrongfully denied. First, the trial court incorrectly concluded that the officer was engaged in a consensual encounter when he directed Petitioner to remove his hands from his pockets. Second, the trial court incorrectly concluded that the justified in grabbing Petitioner's hands after officer was Petitioner complied with the officer's directive to remove his hands from his pockets, turned and placed his hands inside the waistband of his pants. At the time Petitioner approached the officer, the circumstances did not suggest that Petitioner was engaged in illegal activity or possessed a weapon. Petitioner's furtive movements did not change this legal conclusion. Therefore, this Court should vacate the opinion of the District Court of Appeal as it is contrary to well-settled principles of Fourth Amendment jurisprudence.

Point II: As Petitioner was illegally detained, he was lawfully entitled to obstruct the officer without violence. Consequently, his conviction for resisting an officer without violence must be reversed and his discharge ordered.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHERE THE OFFICER DID NOT HAVE A FOUNDED SUSPICION THAT PETITIONER WAS ENGAGED IN CRIMINAL CONDUCT AT THE TIME OF THE DETENTION AND SEARCH.

At Petitioner's pretrial suppression hearing¹, the circuit court made the following pertinent factual findings and conclusion of law:

I find that the police officer did see the defendant banging on and yelling into some motor vehicle. Within a couple of minutes, the officer circled around and the Defendant ran up to the officer's car in an excited state. The officer was vulnerable sitting in the car and got out. The officer knew who he was and knew that he had been arrested before for battery on a law enforcement officer. There is no evidence before the Court on the disposition of that case. The officer asked the defendant his name and the defendant gave a fictitious name. The defendant had his hands in his pockets and the officer asked him to remove them. The Defendant did so and immediately turned, bent over at the waist and with his back to the officer, put his hands into the waistband area. The defendant was not attempting to walk away at the time. Officer Hall fearing for his safety asked the Defendant to remove his hands. The Defendant did not do so and Officer Hall grabbed the Defen-

After receiving testimony, the court directed defense counsel to present her argument prior to that of the prosecutor. The court reasoned that this was a defense motion. Implicit in this statement is the misconception that the defense had the burden of proof at the hearing. However, as Petitioner was challenging a warrantless search, the burden of proof was upon the prosecution to establish that Petitioner's detention and search was reasonable. State v. Setzler, 667 So. 2d 343, 345 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)

dant's hands to get control of the situation. In the course of that encounter, the officer felt a hard object in the waistband area of the defendant's clothing and could not tell what it was. The defendant and officer Hall fell to the ground. The defendant was hand-cuffed, arrested and searched. Drugs were found during the search of the defendant.

Now key in Fourth Amendment jurisprudence, as you know, is the concept of reasonableness. It's a balancing of interest. The situation here started as a consensual encounter initiated by the defendant. The defendant's behavior was certainly odd. The defendant made a move that clearly would cause a reasonable police officer to be concerned for his or her safety. The officer would have been foolish indeed if he ignored the move and didn't respond. The officer did respond and asked the defendant to remove his hands. The defendant did not. The officer then had probable cause to arrest the defendant for resisting an officer without violence. The search was incident to that arrest. On the question of reasonableness, one question that can be asked really puts this matter in perspective, even if the officer had wanted to just leave when the defendant turned, bent at the waist and reached into his pants, how could be possible (sic) do so? He could not have simply and safely disengaged, turned his back, gotten into his car and driven off without being at great risk. The officer did have reasonable suspicion to believe that the defendant was going for a weapon and the defendant's actions escalated this consensual encounter into what it has become. The motion to suppress is denied.

(T-50-52).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the order denying the motion to suppress. Brown v. State, 714 So. 2d 1191 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). The appellate court determined that the officer was engaged in a consensual encounter despite his asking Petitioner to

remove his hands from his pockets. The encounter did not escalate to a detention until the officer grabbed Petitioner's arm when Petitioner turned away from the officer and placed his hands inside the waistband of his pants. At the time of the detention, Petitioner's behavior coupled with the officer's knowledge of Petitioner's past arrest provided the officer with a basis to fear for his safety. Petitioner takes issue with these legal conclusions.²

First, the trial court erred by finding that Petitioner and the officer were engaged in a consensual encounter until the officer directed him to remove his hands from the waistband of his pants. Rather, the correct application of Fourth Amendment principles requires the conclusion that Petitioner was detained at the time the officer directed him to remove his hands from his pockets. Prior to issuing that command, the officer was obliged to have a founded suspicion that Petitioner was involved in some criminal activity. Absent a founded suspicion, the officer was not lawfully entitled to detain Petitioner by asking him to remove his hands from his pants pockets.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 guarantee all Floridians the right to be free

² "A ruling on a motion to suppress is a mixed question of law and fact, each subject to a different standard of review." <u>United States v. Harris</u>, 928 So. 2d 1113, 1115-1116 (11th Cir. 1991). While factual findings are clothed with the presumption of correctness, legal conclusions are subject to de novo review. 928 F.2d at 1115-1116.

from unreasonable search and seizure. "The Fourth Amendment imposes limits on search-and-seizure powers in order to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals." <u>United States v. Martinez-Fuerte</u>, 428 U.S. 543, 544, 96 S. Ct. 3074, 3081, 49 L. Ed. 2d 1116, 1126 (1976).

There are three levels of police citizen contact: a consensual encounter, an investigatory detention and an arrest. Popple v. State, 626 So. 2d 185, 186 (Fla. 1993). A consensual encounter by its very nature does not implicate the Fourth Amendment for the citizen is free to terminate contact at any time. By contrast, an investigatory stop is an involuntary detention of the citizen. Thus, the Fourth Amendment requires that an officer must have a founded suspicion that the citizen is engaged in criminal activity before the detention occurs. 626 So. 2d at 186; Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); § 901.151, Fla. Stat. (1996).

In determining whether there has been a consensual encounter, a court must consider all of the circumstances surrounding the encounter to determine whether the conduct of the police officer ". . . would have communicated to a reasonable person that the person was not free to decline the officers' request or otherwise terminate the encounter." Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 439, 111 S. Ct. 2382, 115 L. Ed. 2d 389 (1991). An encounter escalates to a detention where the citizen submits to the officer's show of

authority and remains in place. <u>Hollinger v. State</u>, 620 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 1993). As this Court explained in <u>Popple</u>:

Although there is no litmus-paper test for distinguishing a consensual encounter from a seizure, a significant identifying characteristic of a consensual encounter is that the officer cannot hinder or restrict the person's freedom to leave or freedom to refuse to answer inquiries, and the person may not be detained without a well-founded and articulable suspicion of criminal activity. State v. Simmons, 549 So.2d 785 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). This Court has consistently held that a person is seized if, under the circumstances, a reasonable person would conclude that he or she is not free to end the encounter and Jacobson v. State, 476 So.2d 1282 depart. (Fla. 1985). Whether characterized as a request or an order, we conclude that Deputy Wilmoth's direction for Popple to exit his vehicle constituted a show or authority which restrained Popple's freedom of movement because a reasonable person under the circumstances would believe that he should comply. See Dees v. State, 564 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). (Footnote omitted).

<u>Popple v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d at 187-188. Simply stated, a seizure occurs "whenever a police officer accosts an individual and restrains his freedom to walk away." <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. at 16, 88 S. Ct. at 1877.

Dees v. State, 564 So. 2d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), cited in Popple, typifies the line of cases holding that seizure occurs where a citizen complies with an officer's request remove her hands from her pockets. Accord, Harrison v. State, 627 So. 2d 583, 584 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); Evans v. State, 546 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); James Johnson v. State, 610 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

The Fifth District summarized the holdings of these cases:

Our courts have recognized that examples of such submission to authority include situations were an officer orders a person to take his hands out of his pockets or orders a person to hand over something in his hands, explaining that a reasonable person in such circumstances would not conclude that he or she was free to disregard such a show of authority. See Harrison v. State, 627 So.2d 583 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); Dees v. State, 564 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

Gipson v. State, 667 So. 2d 418, 420 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996).

In Gipson, two uniformed police officers seated in a patrol car observed the defendant walking along the sidewalk. One of the officer's recognized the defendant having spoken to him numerous times in the past. Upon sight of the officers, the defendant immediately placed his hand behind his back. The one officer exited the patrol car, approached the defendant and asked to speak After the defendant agreed to speak to the officer, the officer told the defendant to take his hand out of his pocket. The officer knew that the defendant did not have a weapon because by this point the second officer was standing behind the defendant. The defendant handed the officer several bags of contraband. After recognizing that the officer engaged the defendant in a consensual encounter when he asked to speak with him, the Fifth District held that the encounter escalated to a seizure when the officer asked the defendant to remove his hand from his pocket. 667 So. 2d at 420.

In Evans v. State, 546 So. 2d at 1125, the defendant was

seated on a bench at 4:00 a.m. with his hands in his pockets. The officer "asked" the defendant to remove his hands from his pockets for officer safety. When the defendant complied, cocaine fell to the ground. In finding that the trial court erred by denying the motion to suppress, the appellate court wrote:

Given the realties of the situation and not-withstanding the policeman's contrary statement, it is clear that a reasonable person [in the defendant's situation] would have believed he was not free to [disobey the officer]." See United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 555, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 1877, 64 L. Ed.2d 497, 509 (1980); Florida v. Royer, 460 U. S. 491, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983).

Consequently, the appellate court concluded that the cocaine was recovered as a result of a "constitutionally unjustified police order." 546 So. 2d at 1125.

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