OA 3-10-99

SID WHITE

JAN 11 1999

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,942

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Ghief Deputy Clark

WILLIE JAMES BROWN,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

DOUGLAS J. GLAID
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0249475
Dept. Of Legal Affairs
Republic Tower, 10th Floor
110 S.E. 6th Street
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
(954) 712-4600

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

The trial court properly denied Defendant's motion to suppress physical evidence since Officer Hall had a well-founded suspicion to detain Defendant based on his reasonable belief that defendant was reaching for a weapon. The mere fact that Officer Hall "asked" Defendant if he would remove his hands from his pockets did not elevate the officer's encounter with Defendant to a Terry-type detention. (T 13). Furthermore, Officer Hall's act of grabbing the Defendant's hands, which act was based on the officer's concern for his safety in light of his experience (which significantly included prior confrontations in which the officer was injured), was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances confronting the officer. Indeed, it is clear that Defendant's right to personal security free from arbitrary interference was outweighed by the public interest in officer safety. Additionally, the State alternatively maintains that, as the trial court ruled, since Defendant failed to comply with the officer's lawful request for Defendant to remove his hands from his front waistband, the officer had probable cause to arrest Defendant for resisting arrest without violence, and that the subsequent search of Defendant was incident to that arrest.

## POINT II

There was sufficient evidence to support Defendant's conviction for resisting an officer without violence since it was established that the officer was engaged in the lawful execution of a legal duty.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHYSICAL EVIDENCE SINCE OFFICER HALL HAD A WELL-FOUNDED SUSPICION TO DETAIN DEFENDANT BASED ON HIS REASONABLE BELIEF THAT DEFENDANT WAS REACHING FOR A WEAPON. (Restated).

As this Court has ruled, the ruling of a trial court on a motion to suppress comes to this court clothed with a presumption of correctness, McNamara v. State, 357 So. 2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1978), and a trial court's factual findings can be disturbed on appeal only if shown to be without basis in the evidence or predicated upon an incorrect application of the law. See Davis v. State, 594 So. 2d 264, 266 (Fla. 1992). With these principles in mind, it is clear that the District Court's decision affirming the trial court's ruling sub judice was correct and should therefore be approved.

Defendant first contends that the trial court erred by finding that Defendant and Officer Hall were engaged in a consensual encounter until Defendant turned away from the officer and the officer asked him to remove his hands from the waistband of his pants. Defendant claims that Defendant was "seized" at the time the officer initially asked him to remove his hands from his

pockets, which seizure necessarily would require the existence of a founded suspicion of criminal activity. However, the State submits that the mere fact that Officer Hall "asked" Defendant if he would remove his hands from his pockets did not elevate the officer's encounter with Defendant to a Terry-type detention. (R Indeed, there is nothing in the officer's testimony 13). indicating that he used words of compulsion requiring Defendant to remove his hands from his pockets. Rather, the officer plainly testified on direct examination that, "I asked the Defendant if he would take his hands out of his pockets for me," and that Defendant then removed his hands from his pockets but then "reached into the inside of his pants underneath his waistband at the front of his pants." (R 13). On cross-examination, the officer again reiterated the fact that he had asked Defendant to take his hands out, as opposed to directing Defendant to do so. (R 28-29). The mere fact that Officer Hall propounded this question to Defendant was perfectly reasonable given the fact that Defendant had run up to the officer's vehicle in an excited state (R 10), and certainly would not lead a reasonable person in Defendant's shoes to conclude that he was not free to leave if he so chose. See Popple v. State, 626 So. 2d 185, 188 (Fla. 1993). As such, the officer's simple

request of Defendant did not turn the consensual encounter between the two into a detention or seizure requiring a founded suspicion of criminal activity. See Sander v. State, 595 So. 2d 1099, 1100 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (it was not improper for officer to ask the defendant to remove his hands from his pockets during encounter); accord, State v. Woodard, 681 So. 2d 733, 735 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); Lang v. State, 671 So. 2d 292, 294 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996); King v. State, 696 So. 2d 860, 862-863, n.1 (Fla. 2d 1997); see also State v. Boone, 613 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (officer asking defendant what he had in his hand behind his back did not transform encounter into seizure); Peek v. State, 575 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (officer's request that defendant come over to patrol car during street encounter did not constitute stop); State v. Crumpton, 676 So. 2d 987, 989-990 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) (order to disperse given by police officer to group of persons of which defendant as a member was not the functional equivalent of a seizure of defendant's person, where officer did not restrict freedom of members of the group to leave the area or the direction of their travel).

In light of the above-cited case law, the State strongly disagrees with Defendant's assertion that there exists a "line of

cases" holding that a "seizure" occurs due to the sole fact that a citizen complies with an officer's request to remove his/her hands from his/her pockets. (PB 13). Rather, the State submits that case law holds that it is not improper for an officer to ask a person to remove his hands from his pockets during a citizen encounter. See Lang v. State, 671 So. 2d 292, 294 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), citing Sander v. State, 595 So. 2d 1099, 1100 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); State v. Woodard, 681 So. 2d at 735; King v. State, 696 So. 2d at 863, n. 1.

In this regard, the case of Dees v. State, 564 So. 2d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), cited for support by Defendant, is readily distinguishable from the facts of this case. To be sure, contrary to Defendant's assumption, the First District in Dees did not hold that the deputy's direction for the defendant to remove her hand from her pocket constituted a seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes. Rather, a careful reading of Dees shows that the district court held that the deputy's direction to defendant Dees to exit the van in which she was seated together with the deputy's direction for Dees to remove her hand from her pocket constituted a show of authority that restrained Dees' freedom of movement. 564 So. 2d at 1168. However, despite the deputy's direction for Dees

to remove her hand from her pocket, the deputy's direction to exit the vehicle alone constituted a detention or seizure under this Court's holding in Popple v. State, 626 So. 2d 185, 188 (Fla. 1993). Thus, the officer's direction for Dees to remove her hand from her pocket clearly was not the dispositive factor that caused the First District to hold that a seizure had occurred.

Furthermore, the justification for the officer's request in Evans v. State, 546 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), to have the defendant take his hands out of his pocket was the mere fact that the defendant was seen sitting on a park bench at 4 o'clock in the morning. Here, in stark contrast however, the facts reveal that the officer's request for Defendant to remove his hands from his pockets was justified. As the Fourth District set forth in its opinion, Officer Hall knew Defendant from prior contacts and knew of some other officers' arrests of Defendant, one of which, not insignificantly, was for battery on a law enforcement officer and resisting arrest with violence. (A 1). Moreover, during his encounter with Defendant, Defendant gave the officer a fictitious (A 2). Hence, considering these circumstances as well as the officer's experience in this high crime area, unlike the officer in Evans Officer Hall was more than justified in asking Defendant to

take his hands out of his pockets. In short, given the realities of the situation facing Officer Hall in the instant case, the officer's noncompulsory request here simply cannot be properly construed as a "constitutionally unjustified police order," as was found by the Third District in *Evans*. *Id.*, 546 So. 2d at 1125.

Similarly, the case of Johnson v. State, 610 so. 2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) is factually distinguishable from the instant case. In contrast to the present case, the defendant in Johnson was instructed to remove his hands from his pockets and to face the officer so that the officer could get a good look at the defendant. Id., 610 So. 2d at 583. The only justification for this instruction was the fact that the officer had seen the defendant quickly place his hand in his pocket as if to conceal something. Id., 610 So. 2d at 583. Unlike the case sub judice, there is nothing in Johnson suggesting that the officer had prior knowledge about any prior violent contacts the defendant had with the police and, hence, the defendant's potential for posing a threat to the officer.

Similarly, in *Gipson v. State*, 667 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), another case cited for support by Defendant, there is absolutely nothing to indicate that the officer who commanded the

defendant to take his hand from his pocket had any prior knowledge about any prior violent contacts with the defendant and police, as is the situation here. Moreover, in stark contrast to the facts involved here, the facts of *Gipson* reveal that the defendant posed no threat to the officers. Indeed, the officer who stood behind Gipson at the time when Gipson was ordered to take his hand out of his pocket was "certain" that Gipson was not holding a weapon. 667 So. 2d at 419. As such, the State submits that *Gipson* is not factually on all fours with the facts of the instant case so as to be persuasive.

In sum, the State maintains that the fact-specific holdings of the cases cited by Defendant lend no real support for Defendant's position vis-a-vis the unique facts presented in the instant case. As a result, the trial court did not err in concluding that a consensual encounter existed between Defendant and the officer until Defendant turned away from the officer and the officer asked him to remove his hands from the waistband of his pants.

Defendant alternatively claims that, even if the trial court properly concluded that a consensual encounter existed between the officer and Defendant until Defendant put his hands in his front waistband, the trial court erred by ruling that Defendant was

legally entitled to seize Defendant by grabbing his hands. Since, based on the totality of the circumstances confronting the officer, including the officer's experience (which significantly included prior confrontations in which the officer was injured), the officer clearly had a reasonable belief that Defendant might be armed, the State strongly disagrees with Defendant's argument.

The sole case relied upon by Defendant for support in this regard, Williams v. State, 694 So. 2d 878 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), is clearly distinguishable from the unique facts involved at bar. First, in Williams, the "officer asked Williams to pull his waistband forward so that he could look down into his pants." So. 2d at 879. The State submits that this officer's action constituted a far greater intrusion on Williams' personal freedom than Officer Hall's simple request here for Defendant to remove his hands from his pockets. Furthermore, nothing in Williams suggests that the arresting officer had any prior knowledge of any violent criminal propensities on Williams' part, as was present in this Moreover, in significant contrast to the facts here, the case. defendant in Williams did not turn away from the officer and make a sudden hand movement to his front waistband as if he were reaching for a weapon. To be sure, in Williams, unlike Officer

Hall here who testified that he feared that Defendant was "going for some type of weapon" (T 13), the arresting officer testified that he had no reason to believe that Williams was armed. Id., 694 So. 2d at 880. Additionally, unlike Williams, where the officer approached the defendant, Defendant here initially engaged Officer Hall in a voluntary encounter by approaching the officer. (T 10). Indeed, as the Fourth District noted in its opinion, the factual situation involved sub judice is much more akin to the facts presented in Wilson v. State, 569 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), as well as the fairly recent decision in King v. State, 696 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997).

In Wilson, an officer was walking through a bar which had a reputation for violent crimes when he encountered the defendant walking down the hallway. The officer observed the defendant take quick, evasive action after he spotted the officer, and quickly turn and walk back towards the restroom. Similar to Defendant here, as the defendant was turning, he made a sudden, furtive hand movement to the front area of his pants as if he was reaching for a gun. The experienced officer, who was concerned for his safety, thereupon stopped and frisked the defendant. The Fourth District upheld the legality of the officer's search, holding that the

defendant's sudden movements, coupled with the officer's experience, was sufficient to find reasonable suspicion. *Id.*, 569 So. 2d at 516.

Additionally, in the strikingly similar case of King v. State, 696 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), the Second District Court of Appeal concluded that a police officer had the required founded suspicion to grab a defendant he feared was about to shoot him. Although the officer had not seen a weapon or been warned that the defendant was armed, he had come upon the defendant, who was dazed and confused, standing in the middle of the street. The defendant was unresponsive and, like Defendant in our case, was acting oddly. He appeared transfixed by the retreating figure of another man. When the officer was finally able to get the defendant's attention, defendant began slowly backing away, putting his hands in his pockets. When asked not to do that, the defendant tried to reach behind his back despite the officer's repeated requests that he remove his hands from his pockets and refrain from putting his hands behind him. At this point, the officer grabbed the defendant by the arm and placed him up against his patrol car. the instant case, at the time that the police officer grabbed the defendant, the officer feared that the defendant was about to shoot

him, and thus commit a crime. The Second District concluded that the officer's belief was reasonable under the circumstances in light of the officer's knowledge at the time, and therefore upheld the seizure. In its opinion, the Second District aptly opined as follows:

law enforcement officer faced circumstances, not of the officer's creation, which cause the officer to have a reasonable suspicion or fear that a person encountered may be armed with a weapon that could jeopardize the officer's safety is entitled to take such minimum action as will allay the officer's safety concerns. Those permissible actions would include asking the person encountered to take whatever reasonable action might be necessary to ensure that no weapon is involved. Similarly, the officer also would entitled to physically take whatever reasonable action was necessary to thwart any threatening actions by the person encountered so as to dispel any reasonable fear of harm.

Id., 696 So. 2d at 862. The Fifth District, in the case of State v. Burns, 698 So. 2d 1282, 1284 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), recently expressly agreed with the Second District's opinion in King regarding the ability of a law enforcement officer to take action to allay his/her safety concerns when placed in such a precarious situation.

Based upon the foregoing analogous case law, the State submits that Officer Hall's act of grabbing the Defendant's hands, which

act was based solely on the officer's concern for his safety in light of his experience, was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances confronting the officer. Indeed, as in King, it is clear that Defendant's right to personal security free from arbitrary interference was outweighed by the public interest in officer safety. Thus, the evidence seized from Defendant was not the fruit of an illegal detention and, as such, the trial court suppress evidence. Defendant's motion to properly denied Additionally, the State maintains that, as the trial court ruled, since Defendant failed to comply with the officer's lawful request for Defendant to remove his hands from his front waistband, the officer had probable cause to arrest Defendant for resisting arrest without violence, and that the subsequent search of Defendant was incident to that arrest. (T 50-52).

#### POINT II

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